2006

# MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Donn Williams : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j), as a case transferred from the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j), as an order, judgment or decree of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION BELOW**

### **Issues Presented for Review**

**Issue 1:** Did the trial court abuse its discretion in vacating its order of summary judgment in favor of Williams—on the basis of mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect on the part of MBNA—when there was no credible evidence of surprise by MBNA, and when MBNA failed to respond to Williams’ motion for summary judgment for more than 150 days after Williams served such motion upon MBNA’s attorneys by certified mail?

**Issue 2:** Should the trial court’s Order Confirming Arbitration Award be vacated, because the trial court failed to make any findings whatsoever to justify such Order?

**Standards of Review:** The standards of review for the above-described issues are as follows:

(1) A trial court's decision to overturn a prior order of summary judgment pursuant to URCP Rule 60(b) "will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion." *Baker v. Western Surety Company*, 757 P.2d 878, 881 (Utah App. 1988).

(2) In reviewing a trial court's decision concerning whether to overturn a prior order of summary judgment under URCP Rule 60(b), "we [the Utah Supreme Court] accord no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law but review them for correctness." *Lund v. Hall*, 938 P.2d 285, 287 (Utah 1997).

(3) "[A] judgment cannot stand unless there are findings which will justify it. The failure of the trial court to enter adequate findings requires that the judgment be vacated." *Anderson v. Utah County Board of Commissioners*, 589 P.2d 1214, 1215-1216 (Utah 1979).

**Preservation Below:** The issues set forth above were preserved in the trial court by the following:

(1) The parties' pleadings, namely, the document entitled "Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment" (R. 82), the document entitled "Objection to Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment

Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion" (R. 83-84), the document entitled "Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Objection and Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment" (R. 85-87), the document entitled "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendant" (R. 88-93) and the document entitled "Reply to Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Judgment" (R. 101-103);

(2) The trial court's ruling on MBNA's "Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment" and Williams' "Objection to Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion," which is set forth in the document entitled "Order Vacating Judgment Award" (R. 104), and the trial court's rulings on MBNA's "Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award" and Williams' "Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award," which are set forth in the document entitled "Order Confirming Arbitration Award" (R. 114) and the document entitled "Order to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award" (R. 115);

(3) The court docket and the date stamps entered on the above-described documents by the clerk of the court to show the date of filing/entry of such documents; and

(4) The minutes of the hearing held before the court on December 6, 2005, which are set forth in the document entitled “Minutes Law and Motion” (dated December 6, 2005, but not noted in the Judgment Roll and Index nor given a page number in the appellate record, but which is the page immediately prior to R. 114), and the transcript of such hearing (Tr. p. 3-15).

### **DETERMINATIVE RULES**

(1) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 5(d) and (e):

**“Rule 5. Service and filing of pleadings and other papers.**

. . . (d) *Filing.* All papers after the complaint required to be served upon a party shall be filed with the court either before or within a reasonable time after service. The papers shall be accompanied by a certificate of service showing the date and manner of service completed by the person effecting the service. Rule 26(i) governs the filing of papers related to discovery. (e) *Filing with the court defined.* The filing of pleadings and other papers with the court as required by these rules shall be made by filing them with the clerk of the court, except that the judge may accept the papers, note thereon the filing date and forthwith transmit them to the office of the clerk.”

(2) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 60(b)(1):

**“Rule 60. Relief from judgment or order.**

. . . (b) *Mistakes; inadvertence; excusable neglect; newly discovered evidence; fraud, etc.* On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect . . . .”

(3) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 52(a):

**“Rule 52. Findings by the court.**

(a) *Effect.* In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon . . . .”

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below**

This is an appeal from an order/judgment confirming arbitration award granted in an action to confirm an arbitration award obtained by Plaintiff/Appellee, MBNA America Bank, N.A. (“MBNA”) against Defendant/Appellant, Donn Williams (“Williams”).

The action was commenced by the filing of MBNA’s Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award on November 24, 2004 (R. 4-7, 9), in Utah Third District Court as Civil Case No 040409505. Although the action was filed in the Utah Third District Court, the Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award erroneously contained the caption “In the Fifth District Court in and for Washington County State of Utah” (R. 4).

Williams responded to MBNA’s Petition by filing on December 13, 2004, in the Utah Fifth Judicial Court, a pleading entitled “Notice of Objection to Plaintiffs Petition for Arbitration Award to be Made into a Judgement Defendants motion to Strike the Arbitration Award presented by

R. Bradley Neff,” which was served on MBNA’s attorneys by certified mail on that same date (R. 10-18, 50). On December 13, 2004, Williams also filed a pleading in the Utah Fifth Judicial Court entitled “Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment,” which was served on MBNA’s attorneys by certified mail on that same date (R. 19-24, 50). Such pleadings filed by Williams contained the same caption and case number as that contained in the Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award, which MBNA filed in the Utah Third District Court and served on Williams (R. 4, 9, 10, 19). Instead of transferring such pleadings filed by Williams to the proper venue in the Utah Third District Court, the Utah Fifth District Court simply returned such pleadings to Williams (R. 8-24).

On February 14, 2005, MBNA filed a motion for change of venue of the case to the Utah Fifth District Court, which motion was granted on February 18, 2005 (R. 1-2, 8). On March 14, 2005, the Utah Fifth District Court received the court file and re-opened the case in the Utah Fifth District Court as Civil Case No. 050500394 (R. 1).

On April 26, 2005, Williams re-filed the pleadings that he had originally served by certified mail upon MBNA’s attorneys (received by MBNA’s attorneys on December 15, 2004) and filed with the trial court on December 13, 2004, which were entitled “Notice of Objection to Plaintiffs

Petition for Arbitration Award to be Made into a Judgement Defendants motion to Strike the Arbitration Award presented by R. Bradley Neff” and “Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment” (R. 10-24, 50).

On May 25, 2005, which was 160 days after completing service by certified mail of his Motion for Summary Judgment upon MBNA’s attorneys, Williams filed his Notice to Submit for Decision with the trial court, which was served on MBNA on May 31, 2005 (R. 25). On May 31, 2005, the trial court signed and entered the Order and Summary Judgment in favor of Williams, which was served on MBNA on May 31, 2005 (R. 26).

On August 8, 2005, MBNA served its “Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment” and “Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendant,” which were filed with the trial court on August 10, 2005 (R. 77-82). Williams filed and served pleadings entitled “Objection to Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Motion” and “Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Objection and Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment” on August 16, 2005 (R. 83-93). MBNA served its “Reply to Defendant’s Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Judgment” and “Request to

Submit Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Judgment for Decision" on August 22, 2005, which pleadings were filed on August 26, 2005 (R. 99-103).

On September 6, 2005, the trial court signed the Order Vacating Judgment Award, which was entered on September 7, 2005, and which vacated the Order and Summary Judgment entered in favor of Williams on May 31, 2005 (R. 104).

After briefing was completed concerning motions filed by the parties concerning vacating or confirming the alleged arbitration award, on December 6, 2006, a hearing was held by the trial court concerning MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award and Williams' Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and related motions (see, document entitled "Minutes Law and Motion," dated December 6, 2005, but not noted in the Judgment Roll and Index nor given a page number in the appellate record, but which is the page immediately prior to R. 114, and Tr. p. 3-15).

On December 15, 2005, without entering any type of minute entry or any findings and/or conclusions whatsoever stating the basis for its decision, the trial court signed its Order and Judgment Confirming Arbitration Award (R. 114) and denied Williams' proposed Order to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award (R. 115). On December 16, 2005, the trial

court entered its Order and Judgment Confirming Arbitration Award (R. 114).

On January 17, 2006, Williams filed and served his Notice of Appeal (R. 118-119).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED**

MBNA commenced this action by filing its "Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award" on November 24, 2004, in Utah Third District Court as Civil Case No 040409505 (R. 4-7, 9). Although the action was filed in the Utah Third District Court, the Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award erroneously contained the caption "In the Fifth District Court in and for Washington County State of Utah" (R. 4). MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award was served on Williams on December 7, 2004 (R. 9).

Williams responded to MBNA's Petition by filing on December 13, 2004, in the Utah Fifth Judicial Court, a pleading entitled "Notice of Objection to Plaintiffs Petition for Arbitration Award to be Made into a Judgement Defendants motion to Strike the Arbitration Award presented by R. Bradley Neff," which was served on MBNA's attorneys by certified mail on that same date (R. 10-18, 50). On December 13, 2004, Williams also filed a pleading in the Utah Fifth Judicial Court entitled "Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment," which was served on MBNA's attorneys

by certified mail on that same date (R. 19-24). MBNA's attorneys actually received these pleadings on December 15, 2004 (R. 50, 78). Such pleadings filed by Williams contained the same caption and case number as that contained in the Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award, which MBNA filed in the Utah Third District Court and served on Williams (R. 4, 9, 10, 19). Instead of transferring such pleadings filed by Williams to the proper venue in the Utah Third District Court, the Utah Fifth District Court simply returned such pleadings to Williams (R. 8-24).

On February 14, 2005, MBNA filed a motion for change of venue of the case to the Utah Fifth District Court, which motion was granted on February 18, 2005 (R. 1-2, 8). On March 14, 2005, the Utah Fifth District Court received the court file and re-opened the case in the Utah Fifth District Court as Civil Case No. 050500394 (R. 1).

On April 26, 2005, Williams re-filed the pleadings that he had originally served by certified mail upon MBNA's attorneys (received by MBNA's attorneys on December 15, 2004) and filed with the trial court on December 13, 2004, which were entitled "'Notice of Objection to Plaintiffs Petition for Arbitration Award to be Made into a Judgement Defendants motion to Strike the Arbitration Award presented by R. Bradley Neff' and 'Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment'" (R. 10-24, 50).

On May 25, 2005, which was 160 days after completing service by certified mail of his Motion for Summary Judgment upon MBNA's attorneys, Williams filed his Notice to Submit for Decision with the trial court, which was served on MBNA on May 31, 2005 (R. 25). On May 31, 2005, the trial court signed and entered the Order and Summary Judgment in favor of Williams, which was served on MBNA on May 31, 2005 (R. 26).

On August 8, 2005, MBNA served its "Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment" and "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendant," which were filed with the trial court on August 10, 2005 (R. 77-82).

MBNA argued that the Order and Summary Judgment entered by the trial court on May 31, 2005, in favor of Williams should be set aside based on "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect" (R. 77-80). As the basis of its motion, MBNA alleged that because the caption on Williams' pleadings stated "in the Fifth District Court Washington County" and because of the manner and timing of the filing of such pleadings by Williams, MBNA's counsel became confused to the extent that they did not respond to Williams' Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 77-80). As further basis for its motion, MBNA alleged that it was unfair surprise for Williams to submit his Motion for Summary Judgment for decision on May 25, 2005,

because MBNA was not aware there was a motion for summary judgment pending (R. 77-80).

MBNA did not allege that the trial court made a mistake of law or fact in entering the summary judgment, and that the summary judgment should be set aside on that basis (R. 77-80, 101-103).

In making its arguments concerning “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect,” MBNA apparently chose to ignore the fact that the original “Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award” served on Williams contained the caption “In the Fifth District Court in and for Washington County State of Utah” (R. 4). Furthermore, even though Williams’ Motion for Summary Judgment was originally filed in the incorrect venue, returned to Williams and then re-filed several months later after the venue of the case was transferred, it is clear that Williams *served* a copy of such motion on December 13, 2005, and MBNA’s attorneys received a copy of such motion by certified mail on December 15, 2005 (R. 24, 50). Even MBNA admitted that Plaintiff’s counsel was able to find its copy of Williams’ Motion for Summary Judgment after conducting a “thorough search” for it (R. 78).

MBNA served its “Reply to Defendant’s Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Judgment” and “Request to Submit

Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Judgment for Decision" on August 22, 2005, which pleadings were filed on August 26, 2005 (R. 99-103).

On September 6, 2005, the trial court signed the Order Vacating Judgment Award, which was entered on September 7, 2005, and which vacated the Order and Summary Judgment entered in favor of Williams on May 31, 2005 (R. 104).

After briefing was completed concerning motions filed by the parties, on December 6, 2006, a hearing was held by the trial court on MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award and on Williams' Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and related motions (see, document entitled "Minutes Law and Motion," dated December 6, 2005, but not noted in the Judgment Roll and Index nor given a page number in the appellate record, but which is the page immediately prior to R. 114, and Tr. p. 3-15).

On December 15, 2005, without entering any type of minute entry or any findings and/or conclusions whatsoever stating the basis for its decision, the trial court signed its Order and Judgment Confirming Arbitration Award (R. 114) and denied Williams' proposed Order to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award (R. 115). On December 16, 2005, the trial court entered its Order and Judgment Confirming Arbitration Award (R. 114).

On January 17, 2006, Williams timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal (R. 118-119).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

(1) The trial court erred by failing to apply the correct standard in determining whether to vacate the summary judgment entered in favor of Williams. The standard to be applied as to whether neglect, mistake or inadvertence are “excusable” should be whether such neglect, mistake or inadvertence would have occurred despite the exercise of due diligence by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances. The standard to be applied as to whether “surprise” has occurred should be surprise which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against.

In this case, MBNA’s assertions of alleged “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect” did not satisfy these legal standards as a matter of law. Rather, MBNA’s alleged “mistake, inadvertence or neglect” would not have occurred if due diligence had been exercised by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances. Furthermore, MBNA’s alleged “surprise” was the type of surprise that ordinary prudence could have easily guarded against. Because MBNA, as a matter of law, did not satisfy the standard required to vacate the summary judgment granted to Williams, it

was an abuse of discretion and reversible error for the trial court to vacate such summary judgment.

(2) The trial court entered its Order Confirming Arbitration Award without entering any type of minute entry or any findings or conclusions whatsoever stating the basis for its decision. A judgment cannot stand unless findings are made to justify it, and therefore, the trial court's Order Confirming Arbitration Award should be vacated.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN VACATING ITS ORDER OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF WILLIAMS—ON THE BASIS OF MISTAKE, INADVERTENCE, SURPRISE OR EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE BY MBNA—BECAUSE THERE WAS NO CREDIBLE EVIDENCE OF SURPRISE ON THE PART OF MBNA, AND MBNA'S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO WILLIAMS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR MORE THAN 150 DAYS AFTER WILLIAMS SERVED SUCH MOTION ON MBNA'S ATTORNEYS BY CERTIFIED MAIL WAS INEXCUSABLE.**

The Utah Supreme Court dictated the legal standard that is to be applied by a trial court in exercising its discretion to set aside a judgment for "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect" as follows:

"We have heretofore defined 'excusable neglect' as the exercise of 'due diligence' by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances. Even if we were to consider any argued distinction between 'good cause' and 'excusable neglect,' which we expressly decline to do, the undisputed facts here do

not support any claim that the employer diligently acted in a prudent manner in failing to file its response until three weeks after it was due. With knowledge that the notice was forthcoming and a response was necessary, the employer's neglect or mistake was not excusable." *Mini Spas, Inc. v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 733 P.2d 130, 132 (Utah 1987) (Citations omitted.)

In the case of *Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker*, 513 P.2d 429, 431 (Utah 1973), the Utah Supreme court further clarified the standard to be applied by a trial court in exercising its discretion to set aside a judgment for "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect," as follows: "The movant must show that he has used *due diligence* and that he was prevented from [acting] by circumstances over which he had no control."

By analogy, the standard set forth in URCP Rule 59(a)(3) is also instructive concerning the standard to be applied by the trial court in assessing whether allegations of "surprise" justify the setting aside of a judgment under URCP Rule 60(b). URCP Rule 59(a)(3), which relates to the determination of whether to alter or amend a judgment, states the following as one of the grounds for altering or amending a judgment: "Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against."

Finally, commentary by the Colorado Supreme Court is helpful in interpreting the standard to be applied in this situation:

“Excusable neglect involves a situation where the failure to act results from circumstances which would cause a reasonably careful person to neglect a duty. It is impossible to describe the myriad situations showing excusable neglect, but in general, most situations involve unforeseen occurrences such as personal tragedy, illness, family death, destruction of files, and other similar situations which would cause a reasonably prudent person to overlook a required deadline date in the performance of some responsibility. Failure to act due to carelessness and negligence is not excusable neglect. On the other hand, ‘excusable neglect’ occurs when there has been a failure to take proper steps at the proper time, not in consequence of carelessness, but as the result of some unavoidable hindrance or accident.” *Farmers Insurance Group v. The District Court of the Second Judicial District*, 507 P.2d 865, 867 (Colo. 1973) (Citations omitted.)

Based on the applicable law, it is clear that the trial court in exercising its discretion must still adhere to the applicable legal standard in determining whether to set aside or vacate a judgment based on allegations of “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect.” That standard requires that the alleged “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect” must be caused by some circumstance beyond the control of the movant, rather than “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or neglect” that could have been avoided by the exercise of due diligence by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances.

In this case, the trial court did not apply the correct legal standard in its determination of whether the Order and Summary Judgment entered in

favor of Williams on May 31, 2005, should have been vacated due to the alleged “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect” of MBNA.

As a basis for its Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment, MBNA alleged that it was confused by the caption on Williams’ Motion for Summary Judgment, which stated “In the Fifth District Court Washington County,” and therefore, failed to respond to such motion at the time it was received. MBNA alleged that it was further confused by the delay of Williams in filing his Motion for Summary Judgment with the trial court. Finally, MBNA alleged that it was surprised by Williams’ request to submit his Motion for Summary Judgment for decision, because it was “unaware” of a pending motion for summary judgment at the time the request for decision was made.

It should be noted that MBNA’s allegations made in support of its Motion to Vacate Order of Summary Judgment were not established by a sworn affidavit or any other type of factual proof, but rather, were merely bald allegations made without any apparent factual support. It should also be noted that MBNA did not allege that the trial court made a mistake of law or fact in entering the Summary Judgment in favor of Williams, and did not argue that the Summary Judgment should be set aside on that basis.

Even if MBNA's alleged factual allegations were deemed to have been established by means of an affidavit or other specific proof, they still clearly failed to satisfy the standard for "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect," which would justify the setting aside of a judgment under Utah law.

Concerning MBNA's first allegation, it was clearly MBNA's own actions or negligence that created the alleged confusion concerning the caption on Williams' Motion for Summary Judgment, which stated "In the Fifth District Court Washington County." Even though MBNA originally filed its Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award in the Utah Third District Court, the caption on such pleading stated "In the Fifth District Court in and for Washington County State of Utah" (R. 4). This was the initial pleading served upon Williams, and his Motion for Summary Judgment was part of his initial response to MBNA's Petition. One could easily anticipate that the Defendant in a case would use the same case heading or caption used by the Plaintiff in its original complaint or petition. Therefore, it should have been no surprise to MBNA that the caption used by Williams matched the caption on MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award.

It should also be pointed out that Williams actually simultaneously sent two certified letters to MBNA's attorneys—one which contained

Williams' Motion for Summary Judgment and one which contained Williams' pleading entitled "Notice of Objection to Plaintiffs Petition for Arbitration Award to be Made into a Judgment Defendants motion to Strike the Arbitration Award presented by R. Bradley Neff." Both of such pleadings were served by certified mail on December 13, 2004, and both were received by MBNA's attorneys on December 15, 2004, just over a week after Williams was served with MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award. Both of such pleadings contained the same case caption as MBNA's Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award.

Finally, one must objectively inquire as to how many case files MBNA's attorneys could have had in their office that contained the heading of *MBNA vs. Donn Williams*, and the Civil Case No. 040409505, regardless of which District Court venue was stated in the caption of the pleading. Common sense would indicate that there would be only one such file.

Based on an objective analysis of MBNA's first allegation, it would be difficult to imagine how MBNA's alleged confusion concerning the caption on Williams' Motion for Summary Judgment could have been caused by anything other than MBNA's own carelessness or negligence, something over which MBNA had complete control.

MBNA's second allegation, that it was confused by Williams' delay in filing his Motion for Summary Judgment with the trial court, also clearly failed to satisfy the legal standard imposed by Utah law for vacating a judgment based on "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect."

Any possible merit contained in such allegation was completely neutralized by the fact that Williams served his Motion for Summary Judgment upon MBNA's attorneys by *certified mail*. It is elemental to conclude that a reasonably prudent person (and especially a law firm) exercising due diligence would normally pay special attention to the contents of a letter received by certified mail. However, in this case, the contents of Williams' certified letter were apparently immediately misplaced by MBNA's attorneys.

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