2006

# MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Donn Williams : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The Defendant's appeal of the trial court's order vacating the summary judgment order in favor of the Defendant is not proper as Defendant's underlying motion for summary judgment was never properly served on the Plaintiff. The Defendant attempted to file a summary judgment motion on December 13, 2004, in the Fifth Judicial District but the case had not yet been transferred to the Fifth District. The Fifth District Court returned the motion to the Defendant unfiled as it had no case pending for the Defendant with that civil number. The Plaintiff then moved the Third District Court to change venue to the Fifth District Court, and that motion was granted in February of 2005.

The Defendant then re-filed the same summary judgment motion which had been previously returned by the Fifth District Court, but failed to serve the motion on the Plaintiff. Therefore, Defendant's motion was not properly before the court as Plaintiff was not properly served with Defendant's April 26, 2005, summary judgment motion.

2. It was not reversible error for the trial court to vacate the order of judgment in favor of the Defendant. The trial court is granted broad discretion in ruling on URCP 60(b) motions. The Defendant argues that the trial court used the wrong standard, but the record is silent as to what standard the trial court used. Therefore, any claim that the wrong standard was used is presumptive and speculative.

3. The trial court correctly confirmed the arbitration award according to the applicable statutory scheme. The Plaintiff filed a motion to confirm an arbitration award and the Defendant did not file his motion to vacate the award within the specified 90 days. The Defense argues that the trial court should not have entered judgment without findings of fact or conclusions of law, citing URCP 52. URCP 52 is not applicable when confirming an arbitration award because the arbitration award is confirmed by operation of statute, not a trial.



## ARGUMENT

### **I. DEFENDANT'S APPEAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER VACATING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT IS FATALLY DEFECTIVE AS DEFENDANT'S UNDERLYING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS NOT PROPERLY SERVED UPON THE PLAINTIFF.**

The Defendant's appeal of the Order Vacating Judgment in favor of the Defendant is fatally flawed as the underlying motion for summary judgment filed by the Defendant on April 26, 2005, was not properly served on the Plaintiff. Rule 5(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (URCP) states that "[a]ll papers after the complaint required to be served upon a party shall be filed with the court either before or within a reasonable time after service."

In this case, the Defendant attempted to file the summary judgment motion on December 13, 2004, in the Fifth District Court, but the motion was returned to the Defendant unfiled, as demonstrated by the crossed out time-stamps and admitted by the Defendant. (See Brief of Appellant, page 13 and Exhibit "A") While Plaintiff does not dispute the receipt of the Defendant's motion on December 15, 2004, the fact that it was returned to the Defendant, and not filed with the court for another 150 days worked to relieve Plaintiff from the obligation to respond to the motion for summary judgment at that time.

Plaintiff was not required to respond to the April 26, 2005, motion for summary judgment as the Defendant did not comply with Rule 5(d) when he waited 150 days to actually file the motion with the Fifth District Court. The 150 day delay was clearly not “reasonable” under the meaning of Rule 5(d). Therefore, the summary judgment motion should not have been considered by the Fifth District Court, much less entered.

## **II. IT WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO VACATE THE ORDER OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT.**

The trial court did not commit reversible error when it vacated the order of summary judgment in favor of the Defendant on September 7, 2005. The trial court has broad discretion in vacating judgments and final orders according to this Court’s holding in *Birch*. *Birch v. Birch*, 771 P.2d 1114. This Court also held that a trial court’s decision regarding a URCP 60(b) motion “will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion.” *Baker v. Western Surety Company*, 757 P.2d 878, 881.

In this case, the Defendant claims that the trial court abused its discretion when it vacated the order of summary judgment in favor of the Defendant due to inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. The Defense goes to great lengths to point out that the Plaintiff had been “constructively” served with the motion, and did not demonstrate a sufficient basis for the surprise or excusable neglect. What the Defendant fails to address,



is that the summary judgment motion was never properly served on the Plaintiff when it was filed. Defendant's filing of a summary judgment motion without notifying the Plaintiff clearly constituted surprise, and Plaintiff's failure to respond to the motion was excusable.

The Defendant argues that Plaintiff was on notice that a summary judgment motion had been filed as Plaintiff had received the December 13, 2004, motion for summary judgment on December 15, 2004. Under the holding in *Airkem International*, "[t]he movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from [acting] by circumstances beyond his control" to establish mistake inadvertence, or excusable neglect. *Airkem International Inc. v. Parker*, 513 P.2d 429, 431. In this case, the Plaintiff was prevented from responding to April 26, 2005 summary judgment motion as Plaintiff did not receive notice that the motion had been filed.

Plaintiff was also prevented from responding to the Defendant's December 13, 2004, motion for summary judgment as the Defendant did not actually file that motion in either the Fifth District Court or the Third District Court. The Defendant's failure to properly file the summary judgment motion on December 13, 2004, relieved the Plaintiff of any obligation to reply to that motion according to Rule 5. Therefore, Plaintiff was prevented from filing a reply memorandum by circumstances outside his control, namely, the Defendant's failure to properly serve the motion for summary judgment.

A. DEFENDANT'S ASSERTION THAT THE TRIAL COURT  
APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IS  
PRESUMPTIVE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

The Defendant's claim that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard in vacating the order of summary judgment in favor of the Defendant is presumptive and is not supported by the record. Defendant claims that the trial court applied the incorrect legal standard in reviewing Plaintiff's URCP 60(b) motion to vacate. (See Brief of Appellant, page 20) The Defendant argues that the reasons set forth in Plaintiff's motion to vacate did not satisfy the legal standard as stated in *Airkem International* discussed above. *Id.* The Defendant claims that the trial court used the wrong standard, but does not state which incorrect standard the trial court allegedly applied.

It is presumptive for the Defendant to claim that the trial court used the wrong standard when the record is silent on what standard was used by the trial court. The record is silent as the trial court did not enter findings of facts or conclusions of law with the order vacating judgment. Therefore, the Defendant has no way of knowing what legal standard was used by the trial court and cannot claim that it used the wrong one. Under the broad discretion granted the trial court in *Birch*, this Court should leave the order vacating judgment intact as there is no indication on the record that the wrong legal standard was used. *Birch v. Birch*, 771 P.2d 1114.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT'S CONFIRMATION OF THE ARBITRATION AWARD SHOULD NOT BE VACATED AS THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO MAKE ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW TO SUPPORT THE ORDER.**

The trial court was correct to confirm the arbitration award and the confirmation should not be vacated as the trial court was not required to enter findings of fact to support the confirmation of the award. According to UCA § 78-31(a) 123, the arbitration award "shall" be confirmed by the Court unless it should be vacated under UCA § 78-31(a) 124. Therefore, a Defendant's proper course of action to attack an arbitration award is to file a motion to vacate the award. UCA § 78-31(a) 124(2) states that any motion to vacate the award shall be filed within 90 days of the movant receiving notice of the award.

In *International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers v. Babcock & Wilcox*, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals held,

The sole issue to be decided on appeal is whether the affirmative defenses raised by B&W were time-barred, a question not previously decided by this circuit. We hold that the passing of the time limitation period for an action to vacate an arbitration award completely bars, in a subsequent confirmation proceeding, the raising of such statutory defenses.

826 F.2d 962, 964 (1987). Therefore, a party objecting to an arbitration award who fails to file a motion to vacate an arbitration award in a timely manner is "completely" barred from raising the statutory defenses in a subsequent action to confirm the award. *Id.*



On March 26, 2005, the Defendant filed an objection to the arbitration award claiming that there was no agreement to arbitrate. (See Exhibit "B") That is a "statutory defense" listed in § 78-31(a) 124. According to the holding in *International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers v. Babcock and Wilcox*, the Defendant cannot raise this statutory defense for the first time in the confirmation proceeding as the motion was not filed within 90 days of entry of the arbitration award in accordance with UCA § 78-31(a) 124(2). *Id.*


The Defendant claims that the URCP 52(a) requires the trial court to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law to support the entry of a judgment. However, this action was not "tried upon the facts" as referred to in URCP 52, rather, the arbitration award was confirmed and entered as a judgment through a statutory process. Therefore, no findings of fact or conclusions of law are necessary to support the judgment and Defendant's argument must fail.

### CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should deny Defendant's appeal.

**Addendum** is attached and includes copies of filings and papers.